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Introduction

In January 2018 the City of Mount Airy contractedh Landmark Preservation Associates
conductan architectural survey and survey update of approximately 450 properties located
within the cityos pmoecrestliepirathepdaing olagpaoximatel/ 280 T h e
existingproperty records220 properties in the Moutiriry Historic Distrit, which was listed in

the National Register of Historic Places in 1985, and 60 properiisgle the districtThe

projectalso resulted ithe creation obver176 survey recordg$or newly identifiedindividual
resourcesind resource groupingsitside he existing district and its 2012 boundary increase
area.The projectwas funded bythe City of Mount Airy andHistoric Preservation Funaonies
administered by thil.C. StateHistoric Preservation Office (HPO).

The project hdtwo phases: a planning pleagonducted in January and February 2018, and the
survey proper, completed August2018. The planning phases designed talentify and
characterize resources for survey, to gather releartextuahistorical information, and to
introduce the project to the communifihe project arewas defined by the current limits of the
City, an area 07,551.61 acrewith anestimated populatioaf 10,347in 2016 The survey
properinvolved thephotographyf resourcesnd the noting of architectural features. The
history of the resourcesasdetermined largely from references in secondary soupcesary
sources such as city directories and Sanborn raaplsinterviews with knowledgeable
individuals!?

! Historical information for the project was gathered at the following repositories:



New ard updatednformation wasentered intothél P O60 s s u r vamd/gercratéedaad a s e
paper files archived at the HPOOG6s Ralami gh of f
photographsvasalso provided to the City. Anothsurveyproductis thisfinal reportwhich

summarizethe project findingandincludesrecommendations f@ropertiesand areas that
warrantconsiderationfot h e st at ed resouBceditlthtyappear te be eligiblether

National Registeof Historic PlacesThep r o j Studyt L&tsecommendations are schedule to

be presented to thé¢.C. National Register Advisory Committatits October2018meeting?

Many individuals contributed to the success of the projecmostamong them Ben Barcroft,

City Planner with the Mount Airy Planning and Development Department, and Claudia Brown,
Architectural Survey Coordinator with the HPRatthew J. Edwards and Amy Snyder with the
Mount Airy Museum of Regional History made the musdus r esour ces avail abl
including research on downtown buildings by Glenda EdwardsTad Alexander with
Preservation North Carolir@ovided support and encouragemerglgHvas provided by PO

staff includng Chandrea BurchAndrew Edmods, Anna Grantham, Michael Southeangd

Brett Sturm Mount Airy residents whrovidedinformationon propertieand neighborhoods,

put the consultant in touch with property owners and knowledgeable individuals, and helped
arrang site visitsincluded Cawnl Burke Nancy DavisJohn Kidwell, Shelby King, Edward
McDaniel,Bettsee McPhail, Suzanne Setil&eorge Speightlohn Springthorpe Jiand Jeannie
Studnicki.Others welcomed the consultamito their homes andusinesses arttieir

contributions are aciowledged in the individual survey files.

Historical Overview

Non-native settlement ohearea that would beconMount Airy commencedby the end othe

1760s.The majority of early nomative settlers were of European desckmtividualsof

African descentfree or enslavegiresumablyarrived about the same timEhe community is

thought to haveéakenits name from the Mount Airy plantation of Jonathan Untharkch

existed near atage roaarossing of the Ararat Rivén the early 1800sThe locdion was

favorable for community development, as indicated by the construction of the Blue Ridge Inn

about 1830, the designation of thieunt Airy Post Officein1832 and t he erecti on
scattering roadsi de 3Actomingbsa d93@GadntiolaiiThe Stétee s ame t i
magazine, the first post office was | ocated i

City of Mount Airy Public Works Plat Room
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2The listing of a property in the National Register places no obligation or restriction on a private owner using

private resources to maintain or alter the property. National Register listing should not be confused with local

historic property and historic district designations. These designations are made by a local governing board on the
recommendation of a local histopreservation commission.

SPatricia S. Dickinson, #fAMount Airy Hi st or-Nominddonstri ct o
Form, 1985), 8.:8.4



south of the present city Architectural historian Patricia Dickinspauthor of the National

Register nomination for the MatlAiry Historic District(1985)wr i t es t hat @At he <co
originally developed as a conveervedehet st op al o
community®

A village grew uparound the Blue Ridge Inwith an estimated 300 people calling Mount Airy
home by 1860. Smaflicale industrial activity contributed to the growibhcob W. Brower
established gextile mill about 184Gnd William T. Schaulestablishe@ woodworking shop
and wagon factorin the 18508.Another early industry, one that would becoimereasingly
important as a driver of community growth as the nineteenth century progressenhaca® t
manufacturingRailroads, which reached Greensboro and Danville by the end D350s,
offeredenhanced transportation opportunitiestb e c ou n tgywessando b ac c o
manufacturersThe local industrywhich focused on plug (chewing) tobacco productioay
have begun in the antebellum pedothe yearsl852 or 1853&re mentioned although other
information suggests tobacco manufacturiragted until after the Civil War antthe opening of
William M. Banned s f a c t d Arghitectural histoman Laura Phillips identifies the 1880s
and early 1890s as the heyday of the industry, with nine tobacco fatisigd$or Mount Airy

in an 189usiness directoty

Awatershed event i n Mo u mrtivalAfithe CapeFeal and ¥adkinp me n t
Valley Railroad in 1888By linking the town to national and international markbesrailroad

spurred industrialization which in tustimulaed rapidpopulation growth, from approximately

500 inhabitants in 1880 to approximately 3,000 by 1893. The swelling population needed

housing and other buildings. On a single day in 1808évespapereporter counted five tobacco
factoriesor warehouses wuter construction as well as five commercial buildings, a dozen
residences, and a summer resort. A leading developer of the era was tobacco manufacturer J. A.
Hadley whais credited with the construction ofer fifty rental houses in the town. The early

1910s saw aother populatiospike from 3,800 inhabitants in 1910 to 5,100 in 1915.

An early beneficiary of rail transport was the granite indusiry.888a railroad station
contractomamedThomas Woodruff acquirethe extensiveil F |1 a t gré&hdefokmationon the

t own o s .e aMoto deorttdGardirsa Granite Corporatipso named in 1904, would

develop whats today considerethe largest opefaced granite quarry in the worldndfiMount

Airy white granited hasgone into the construction pfominent memorialaround the country

and numerous local houses, churches, commercial buildings, and other striictur@s. t o wn 6 s
important granite industry has earned it the nickname GraniteRtitgiture manufacturing was
another importanibcal industry with roots in the railroad boorithe 1893 Mount Airy Furniture
Company was the first larggealefurniture manufacturer to locate in the communty.

4The StateNovember 7, 1936, p. 29.

SDickinson, AiMount Airy Historic District,o 8. 2.
5l bid., o 8.5.

" lbid., 8.6; Laura A. W. PhillipsSimple Treasures: The Architectural Legacy of Surry CoMgunt Airy, N.C.:
Surry County Historical Society, 1987), 41.

8 Phillips, Simple Treasuresii.
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DowntownMount Airy achievedts presentharactein the early twentieth centurwith streets
lined by closelybuilt multistory buildingsof brick and granite constructiokey landmarks
includethe ca. 189@alloway Opera Housghe ca. 1910 Merritt Buildingnow Mount Airy
Museum of Regional History)he 1914Martin Memorial Hospital, the 1931 Masoriiemple,
and the 193333 Mount Airy Post Office Around the downtownsuch an the south and north
extensions of Main Street, residential blo@iked with the stylish homes of business and
professional meht Main Street followed ridgelines to the noethd south, giving the new
houses elevated sites and distant vieMso adjacent to downtown was the tobacco
manufacturing district centered on Willow Street whitkthe 1920s and 1930gas largely
convertedtd he production of ho$§pen gegtitednd, alsorkmowrd r e n 6 s
as the Mount Airy Knitting Compangmployed 705 workeris 1958and produced over $4.3
million in clothing!?

The automobilemerged as an important forcetie physichdevelopment of the town during

the first half of the twentieth century. Businesses began to appear on the main roads leading in
and out of town. An early example is the Derby Restapestablished in 1937 on Highway 52

south of the downtown in tHg&anrertowncommercial arearl he original building, described on

the restaurantodos website as a Aroadside dive,
building of curved form was built in 1947 Construction of the Highway 52 Bypass on the west

side oftown after World War 1l generated commercial growth in formerly rural areas. Attention
grabbing signage was a hall mark of the erabds
found such examples as the Big Man Shell sign in the form of a waving egsaitendant, the

rotating milk carton in front of the Coble Dairy Products@n and the Star Lite Motel sign,

modeled on the Holiday Inn signs of the &ra.

The automobile was also increasingly a factor in residential development in the city as the

twertieth century progressed. West Lebanon Street and adjacent streets, located a quarter mile
and more from the north end of the townds com
development by the end of the nineteenth century, but development acceleriatg dhdearly

decades of the automobile era as car ownership made the area more accessible. The Taylor Park
subdivision,developed by James Marion Burke beginning in the 1930s, is representative of the

early automobile suburb form, with curving streets mredular lots that proved popular with the
communityds more affluent homebuil ders of the
northern trajectory for upscale residential developmentid a cluster of home construction on
CountryClubRoad aci ng the townés 1920s country club.
from the 1930s but mostly filled in in the 1940s and 1950s. By the 1960s solid residential
development extended between Taylor Park and Country Club Road and beyond, accounting in
part for the top heavy form of Mount Airyds an
north of the town core that to the south.

2 1bid., 44-45.

Zphillips, fAMount Airy Hi £2,2628. ¢ Di strict Boundary |l ncr e
13 Derby Restaurant website.

4 Thomas D. Perrymages of Mount Airy, NdntCarolina(Ararat, Va.: Laurel Hill Publishing,

2010), 208.



Mount Airyés working class neighborhoods tend
principal vector of devejament being Rockford Street. Mount Airy does have

representatives of thmill village form, acommondevelopmentypein other Piedmont towns.

Instead, small blocks of worker housing, usually characterized by a few repeated house forms,

were built thraighout town, probably through the initiative of individual developers rather than

large industrial concerns. These dispersed clusters, most dating to the 1910s and 1920s, extend as
far south as Forrest Drive and Grove Lane and adjacent streets, beybi®13BeBypass.

Thedecade of th&960s, the end of the historic period that isftoais of the survewitnessed
furtherimportant changes iMo u n t  physicay d@wwelopmenét the beginning of the decade

the town turned its attention toward the African Americammercial and residential are on the
northwest side of the downtown, centered on Virginia Sthedi961The Statenagazine
reported: @AThe Mo uisnrespofsible jo a Rrigeadagnee forghe Brloaa nercewal
plans now underway. These plans call for the reclaiming of 57 acres of blighted area and the
building of a new city hall. This project i
Mount Airyfacel i fting. 06 A housing project was buil
areas near town considered for annexation and predicted a resulting total population 0f14,000.

S
t

Mount Airy alsoachieved national famduring the 1960as the model fothe mythical

Mayberry int e | e v Ansly GoiffittdShowT he showdés namesake and | ea
Andy Griffith, was borrand grew upn Mount Airy.1® The first large suburban shopping centers

opened in 1968The ThruWay Shopping Center began onlijggass with the construction of a

motel and other businesgbat were the initiative aleveloper Paul Branch. Across thaythe

Mayberry Mallwas developed by Stephen D. Bell and Company of Greenshbomangthe

ma | thréegnitial tenantsvereThe Canb r i dge Shop, Mari onods,aniewel er
in 1970Belk Department Store, built kgeJohn S. Clark Construction Compamyas added to
thecomplex Bel ké6s opening at the mall coin¥ided w
The rise 6 suburban shopping centers and other roadside enterprises siphoned business away
from the downtown, but Mount Airydé historic c

exurban migration in the late twentieth century and enjoys high occupaasyardat other
indications of economic health in the early twefitgt century® By the end of the historic
period the town 0 g32pimhgbitahtaacdordimg tortli®rdicemsusT e
current populatiostands af0,347(2016 estimate)

5 The StateApril 29, 1961, p. 16.

% 1bid., 5.

" Mount Airy NewsJune 30 and November 13, 1970, and March 31, 1988; 8.17.

18 Catherine W. Bishir, Michael T. Southern, and Jennifer F. MaktBuide to the Historic Architecture of Western
North Carolina(Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press,

1999), 112.



Architectural Overview

Mount Airy6 early settlersntroduced architectural traditions that would have been
indistinguishable from construction occurring elsewhere irctiumty. Logbuildings
presumably predominated, although frame buildipmgdablyexisted by the early nineteenth
century and stone&as used for foundations and chimneys and specialized buikliicgsas

springhouse®Both types of wooden constructonmads e of t he areabds abund

timber.Brick construction, though known to tBettlers, wagpresumably rare, reserved for the
most prominent structures like the 188be Ridge Inpatwo-story brick hotebf modified
domestic formThe inn, which stood on presetdy Main Street, was demolished in the
nineteenth centur}?

The Wiliam A. Moore Hous€SR0350Q right) at 202
Moore Ave, thought to date to the early 1860s but ___
remodeled later in the nineteenth century, is probaldes
the oldest surviving building in the downtown area ¢
the city. Thewo-story frame residence, which is
individually listedin theNational Registehas
Gothic Revivalfeatures such aslancet window and
bargeboards, Italianate cornice brackets, interior
graining and marbling, and, in the yardRastic-style
hexagonal summer house or gazebo constructed w
twining laurel roots. The gazebas inspired by a
design inthe 1844book The Theory and Practice of
Landscape Gardeninigy architecturatheorist
Andrew Jackson Downin@nd its cunailed
construction indicates a date of construction before about??898o early is theca. 1875
William A. Estes Hous¢SR0406)at 724 S Main, which is Greek Revival in characfér
Expansion of the city through annexation has brought other old houses inside the cityhimits.
nineteentkcentury Edwardd homas House (SR68) at 2343 Wards Gap Rd. contains two log
rooms separated by a gap that was made into a hallway in the 1940s. The arrangement is
reminiscent of the dogtrot form. Another hotisat appears to be eai/the small dwelling at
670 Allred Mill Road

With its Gothig Italianate and Rustideatures, the Moorproperty illustrates several of the
nationally currenarchitectural stylesepresentech Mount Airy during the late nineteenth

centuryThe Il talianate style i s mealboanlyeasethy assoc

late 1880s and 1890s, followed by the Queen Anne wflyieh was popular from th&890sinto
the early twentieth century. ThE. W. Burke Hous€SR0367)at 314 W. Pineand theRobert
Hines Hous€SR0365)at 329 W. Pingwith theirdecorative friezg, corner pilastergnd

19 Phillips, Simple Treasures-13, 40.

®Patricia S. Dickinson, fAWilliam Al fredveMaywyr e Houseo
Nomination Form, 1985%)Catherine W. BishiiNorth Carolina ArchitecturéChapel Hill: University of North

Carolina Press, 1990),2838 4. T h e qalled edngrdcton suggests a date before 1890. A similar gazebo
also stood at White Sulph Springs several miles north of Mount Airy.

21 Phillips, Simple Treasure#0, 173.



sawtoothwindow hood, arerepresentative of the
Italianate style as it was typically expressed in Moul
Airy. The Queen Anne style is epitomized by the
James A. Hadley Houg8R0357 right) at 400 W.
Pine,begun in 1894(possibly earlierand completed
in 1900,which features a tower with bethst roof, a
bay window treatment of the front wing, aad
wraparound veranda. The first storygignite, making
the house the first in town to use the celebrated loc&
stone, and the second story is brick with granite =
embellishments. Etched and stained glass, sumptu g /88 ki o i e
wood and plaster interior detail, and a stair hall =
archway with marble colonettes are other notable
features.

The Queen Anne style was also popular fa=story dwellings, to which it lent an imposing
presence. Representative of the-stwy form is thendividually National Registelisted 1909
Edgar Harvey Hennis Houg8R0277)at 1056 N. Main, distinguished by a hip roof with
prominent front gables arednumber of classically inspired details indicative of Classical
Revival influence? The Classical Revival style, whietas popularized by the Chicago World
Columbian Exposition of 1893, appealed to affluent Mount Airy homebuilders after TI9€0.
monumetal porticowhich isa hallmark of the style appears on the W. F. Carter House
(SR0399)at 418 S. Main, an older dwelling remodeled ca. 1908 on the 1917 Campbell A.
Baird Housg'SR0389)at 311 CherryThe Carter House portico is lonic and the Bairdis®
portico is Doric, but in both instances the porticos engagestamg porches that extend across
the facade.

AmongMo u nt dailiestysuwveving commercial
buildings is the Galloway Opera Hous&R0314 left) at 420
N. Main, builtca. 1890 jgrior to 189). The large, twestory,
brick building houses retail spaces on the first floor and
featured an upstairs meeting hall for travelling shows, school
commencements, and other gatherings. The building has a
| stepped front parapet, whereas most odlogvrtown
| buildings feature flat parapets, some ornamented with
corbelled brickwork or pressed metal cornicgsace
demands encouraged sidg-side or party wall construction,
§ resulting in continuous building fronts that contrast with the
detached character ofost residential development in the

= town. Typical commercial architectural features include
storefronts with platglass display windows and recessed entries, and gp@grwindows with
flat, segmental, or rourdrched heads.

2patricia S. Dickinson, fAEdgar Harvey He nn-Nenndfionus e o
Form, 1985).
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Several buildings presenearly or original storefront features. The ca. 1896 Snappy Lunch
Building (SR0341) at 125 N. Main has a storefront with chamfered pilasters and two surviving
AQueen Anneo transoms with | arge rectangul ar
panesThe building also retains it940s Snappy Lunch sign picturing a svelte waitress and
waving motorist.The original storefront of the 189/ Leonard Block (SR0332) at 1137

Franklin has chamfered pilasters, tall transom windows, and a molded woocecbneica.

1891 Hale Dry Goods Store (SR0323) at 226 N. Main and the 1906 Banner Building (SR0338)
at 153155 N. Main St. have mettdcade elemenisentified aghe work of theGeorge L.
Meskerand Company, a major supplier of metal architectural elesvarihe turn of the

twentieth centuryThe Midkiff Hardware StoreBuilding (SR0320Main-Oak Building at 248

N. Main hascast iron storefront elements such as slender cylindrical display window corners
with molded caps and bases and flanking sgqadgedpilasters with fluting, flared bases and

caps, and rosetté3

Most ofMo u nt Hstonic gdnsnercial buildings
possessome level of decorative treatment, but a few
were clearly intended as architectural showpieces. T
Merritt Building (SR0319)at 301-307 N. Main the
current Mount Airy Museum of Regional Historyilt
about1905-10 as a hardware and furniture store, evok
the Classical Revival style through the use of boldly
arched windows, pilasters, and a heavy modillion
cornice T h e braundedicorneg diasefully
responds to theorner site Classical elements lend
gravitas to the downtow
the First National BankSR0326 right) at 200 N. Main
an 1893 building given a granitecade with
monumental pilasteiis the 1910s, and the 1923 Bank
of Mount Airy (SR0328) at 201 N. Majiwhich has contrasting smooth and qudaged granite

cladding and monumental Doric columns in antis. ClassiaisdArt Deco, an early modern

style, characterize the 1933 MountAiry Post Office(SR0344)at111 S. Mainwhich

combines an imposing symmetrical fagade of classical character with geometric ornament and
fluted bands typical of the Art Decthe 1931 Masonic Temple (SR0345) at 212 Franklin

features stepped parapet potiens in theArt Decostyle and peaked parapet panels reminiscent

of theTudor Revivalstyle The downt ownds most fl amboyant Art
Earle TheatréSR0340)at 142N. Main, which has an outwaistepping facade flanked by

channeled pdsters.

Tobacco manufacturing, which boomed with the coming of the railroad, clustehed at
intersection of Willow and Oak streets, an area that was addedNatioaal Registetisted
Mount Airy Historic District in 20124 Theearliest tobacco factpiin the complex is thea.
1888 Sparger Brothers Tobacco Factory N(SR0348 at329 Willow, afour-anda-half-story

B2Gl enda Edwards, fAMoumt TAiury DQRdaryt W 6Waslckiipt prepared
of Regional History, Mount Airy, N.C.).

Laura A. W. Phillips, AMount Airy Historic District B«
Registration Form, 2012).



brick building with stepped gable parapets. Nearly
contemporaneous is the Sparger Brothers Tobacco
Factory No. ZSR0346 at 239 Willow built in 1892,
and a ca. 1890 warehoud®baccerelated

construction continueh the complexnto the early
twentieth centurymost of it with the brick walls and
heavy timber interior structure characteristic of the .
e r a 0 sburscbnstmuctionChanges in the tobacco
industry resulted in the idling of the factories for
tobacco processing, but the large structures were pu#
new use for apparel production beginning in the 192

More recently many of the buildings in the group ha p——
been repurposed agaas condominiumslhe early
1890s R. Roberts Leaf Tobacco Ho(SEB0668 right)
at 165 Virginig a fouranda-half-story brick buildingoetter known aRenfro Mill, is the first of
these conversions with rehabilitation finalized in 2804t some removérom the main group is
the Hadley and Smith Tobacco Factory (SR0384) at 600 W. Pinsuitin 1891, which is also

somewhau nusual as the cityods onThgl83%6banbornvmagmg fr am
noted the buil di ng 6mingagokng, aacking, arsl cagirsg thpfinalzi ng, s
product, chewing tobacco. Of Mount Airyoés cot

survives:ithe 1946 Liberty Tobacco Warehouse (SR0902) at 207 E.S2aly, the Liberty
Warehouse was severely damageditgyin June 2018.

Institutional architectures another legacy of the boom and the years that followed. The oldest
surviving church is Trinity Episcopal Chur¢BR0312) at 427 N. Majrbuilt in 1896 to a design

by Frank Woodrufbf the quarryowning Woodruff(or Woodroffe)family and constructed of
granite fromthefamilyquar ry. The buil dingbs Gothic Reviva
mostin-town congregations of the era, atslgranite construction marks it as likelyetfirst

building in town to be built entirelgut ofthelocal stone.Other congregations adopted the

Gothic style and locajranitefor their construction projects, and between 1904 and 1921 Gothic
Revival granite churches were built for Baptist, Cathdtitends, and Presbyterian
congregationsTwo church projects of the 1920s bucked the trémeica. 1922 Haymore

Memorial Baptist ChurcliSR0376)at 319 Rockford and the 1928 Rockford Street Methodist
Church (SR0377at 526 Rockford were built with gk veneer in the Glonial Revival stylea
relative ofthe Classical Revivatyle Thefacades of théwo churchesre dominated by
pedimented Doric porticos

In 1916 the town erected tiMount Airy High Schoolno longer extant)Thetwo-story brick
building, which was restricted twhite students during the era of segregatsdood on the site of
the current Mount AinMunicipal Building (SR0771gt 300 S. Main. The schowalas

symmetricain form and classicah detailwith banks of large classroommwdows a common
fixture of progressive school design in an era when natural light was still needed for adequate
illumination. Associated with the high school was the ca. 1930 Rockford Street School
Gymnasium/Auditorium (SR0810) at 218 Rockford, built tegaign by the WinsteSalem
architectur al f i r @andeirice 2008 hdmie to the AndydsrifldroMRiseung n

®Laura A. W. Phillips, ARenfro Millo (National Register
9



For the communityods AfldiJanesligh Scmoel(SR106d4was lsuiltu d ent s
at 215Jones School Road, superseding tirgiwia Street School which stood in the downtown.

The Jones Schaoalhich was built to a design by Elkin architect J. M. Franklin and opened in
1940,was for a timaheonly high school serving African American students in Surry County

and all or parts aurrounding counties such as Stokes and Yadkin in North Carolina and Patrick

in Virginia. The detached gymnasium/auditorium added to the school complex in 1947 was built

in part by the high school s masonry c¢l ass st

New house styles appeared in iwhd Airy in the 1910s and 1920s. The Colonial Revival style

loosely evoked the classicism of the colonial and early national periods of American history.
Some of the hybrid Queen Anne/Classical Revival houses discussed above might be regarded as
examples bearly Colonial Revival influence, but the style in its more recognizable sense,

typified by traditional forms and finishes such as the-g@ale house type, brick veneer, and

simple classical treatments around entries, windows, and eaves, tendseo. Fettxtbook

example is the Edward C. Ashby HoS&0388)at 302 Cherry, built ca. 1930 to a design by
WinstonSal em ar chitects No rstoly bripkvemeecd hOus8Bfeaturesia. T h e
front entry with a fanlight and pedimented surround, edatiormers on the slashingled side

gable roof, and paired chimneys on the gable ends. Early Colonial Revival influence may be
present in the design of the 1914 Ed H. Kochtitzky H¢680801)at 339 W. Pine, specifically

in the simple symmetrical masgiof the house and its classical porches and porte cochere.
Kochtitzky was a founder of the Mount Airy Furniture Company, an association which would

likely have familiarized him with the Colonial Revival style in furniture design. Laura Phillips

notes a snilar phenomenon: the use of fine woods in the interior appointment of a number of
houses,zaé result of the availability of quality materials through the presence of the local furniture
industry:

The Colonial Revival style was also employed for commEbtiddings. An early example is the
ca. 1925 Coc&ola Bottling Plant (SR0330) at 1- 26 Moore distinguished byn arcaded first
story, purely decorative iron balcony railings in front of the end windows in the second story,
and a false gable roof shkatl with variegated teneotta tiles. Colonial Revival with a
Modernistflare characterizes the Colonial Frozen Foods Locker Plant (SR1006) at 327 W.
Lebanon, built in 1947 to a design by an unidentified architect. As built, the early 1960s
Mayberry Motorinn (SR0928; originally Mount
Airy Motel; right) at 501 N. Andy Giriffith
Parkway (US 52) waBlodernistin characteryith
strippeddown cinder block walls and high
horizontal windowsbut in 1973 therowners Alma
and L. P. Venable remodeled the buildinghe
Colonial Revival style, addinguch details as
fluted surrounds around doors and lozenge pane
under enlargedindows. The style was used as aks
architectural expression for the Ranch houses of
the early postvar period, adlustratedby the
195354 Marion and Mary Burke House (SR1001
at 308 Wrenn, designed bYinstonSalem

26 Phillips, Simple Treasurest2.
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architect Hal Crewswhich features decorative metal porch supports (evocative of antebellum
ironwork) and Federainspired mantels

A popular alternative to the Colonial Revival style wasTtbhdor Revival stylewhichevoked

the architecture of the Tudor monaeshand late medieval/early modern British architecture in
general. The 1919. D.Sargent Housé€SR0300)at 619 N. Main is a early local representative

of the style, indicated by the patterned false-tiaibering in its gables and a gabled front

dormer al t hough t he-gabloform and fedfagade pgrdh ewe snorelte the
contemporaneous Craftsman style. The nstany of the stornanda-half house is constructed of
granite; the original owner, J. D. Sargent, owned the North Carolina Granite Corporation at the
time. Another notable feature of the Sargent property is its handsome granite garage, which
coordinates ttough its material and design with the house and which heralds the importance of
the automobile as a force in local architecture and community developgvt@etcharacteristic

of theTudor Revivalstyle in their asymmetrical massing asaimplexroof formsare the 1924
Randall Sparger Houg&R0392)at 330 Cherrythe 1930 John Sobotta Ho&R0361)at 347

W. Pine, and the 2®s William E. Merritt Hous€SR0306)at 127 Rawley. Mount Airy also has

its share of Spanistor Mediterraneatinfluenced houses sues the 1920s JamesYokely
House(SR0360)t 350 W. Pine, with its stuccoed exterior, tiled roof, and arcaded porch with
twisted columns, and even a rare example of French Ectedidorman influence: the 1937
Johnand Panspringthorpe HousE€SR0272)at 218 N. Park, which boasts a chateauesque entry
tower with a tall octagonal roof

Most of the styles adapted for Mount Airyos
early twentieth century looked to historic precedent for inspiratioat B&gan to change in the

1910s and 1920s with the introduction of a megidential modethe Craftsman style, which

though rooted in various Western and +Westernarchitecturatraditions developed forms and
details that might be considered prot@den in their eschewal of historicism. A representative
example is the ca. 1920 W. E. Lindsay Ho(8B0276)at 1065 N. Main, a storgnd-a-half

frame housef a typethat was almost synonymous with the Craftsman style: the bungalow form.
The house featuressaveeping, lowpitched sidegable roof which engages a porch on the front

and supports a prominent gabled dormer, more an extension of the upstairs living space than a

d

mere window feature. Details includendariangul

porch supportsf heavy wood posts on stone pedestals, and a porte cochere with the same posts.
Another, more original example of the bungalow form is the ca. 19238dmdaHennis
House(SR0284)at 215 E. Lebanon. In addition to a deeply =
overhanginglow-pitched, sidegable roof the house features i
wraparound porch with a prominent front gable, squat stone
porch pillars, and a pepp seconestory sectionCraftsman
bungalows of sidgabled and gabi&ronted form were popular
house typesinthevarisu Aistri ng towno ¢
coalesced on rural roads around Mount Airy (subsequently
annexed into the city) during the early and middle decades g
the twentieth century. The onceral Ararat Community
(SR1098) on North Main Street features severaftSman
bungalows, among them the 1928 Charles and Nora Thom s
House(right) at 2133 N. Main
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The1927Raymond Sargent Hou$8R0394)at 418 Cherry is a Craftsman bungabaWich

makes extensive and original use of local granite for battered (tapereti)columns and side

chimney (the latter with a date block) and as a heavy Stonelikaderrace railing. Granite saw

i maginative use i n tdoneestit avchitecduse dutiogrhe sventieth and no
century. Granite columns with exaggeratettdyang appear in the porch of the 1920s John H.

Midkiff House (SR1025) at 235 Orchaatid turned Doric columns and bulbous vasiform

balusters of granite ornament the porch of the 1920s Craftsman bungalow at 116 Bank (SR0957).
The ca. 1960 office of the Awe Stone Company (SR1090) at 1700 Fancy Gap Road features a
guarryfaced granite front with smooth granite corner pilasters and window and door surrounds.
The smooth stone around the center entry and
name and lea carved ivy leaf border and fluted bases. Smooth granite facings were afstaple
Modernistinstitutional architecture beginning with the Reeves Community Center (SR0900) at

113 Renfro, designed [Bhelby architect Fred Simmoaad built 195152, and etending

through the 1978 Mount Airy Municipal Building (SR0771) at 300 S. Main and the 1982 Mount
Airy Public Library (SR0809) at 145 Rockford, designeddharlotte architects J. N. Pease
Associates.

TheModernistimpulse seen in downtown buildingsdikhe Masonic Temple and Earle Theatre
had its domestic counterpart in such houses as the\WW9&1y Bordurant Hous€SR0280)at

203 W. LebanonThe Modernestyletwo-story housdeaturesa flat roof lineand planar

stuccoed walls enlivened by roundedres anda striped motif in the parapdthe Bondurant
House was followed in 1941 or 1942 by thale and Nina Yokley House (SR0273) at 224
Howard in the Taylor Park neighborhood on the north side of town, developed by James Marion
Burke beginning in the430s The flatroofed twastory frame house was remodeled in the
International style in the 1960s. The Taylor Park neighborhood and adjacent areas became a
locus of modern house design. OtMadernisthouses in the area include the ca. 1950 Caldwell
House(SR1004) at 227 Grace, a brigkneered house with an overhanging flat roof and
multiple metalframed corner windows; the 1953

54 Ben and Barbara Graves House (SRQ&&/9) at

309 Fairview, an Internationatyle frame house
designed by NCSU School of Bign professor

Cecil D. Elliott; and the 195Jerome and Marilyn
SametHouse (SR1031) at 335 Grace, a wedge

i shaped residence inspired b
Usonian house desigasid built by Jerome Samet,

an area contractoEarly Modernisthouses were

also built in the vicinity of the country club north of
town, most notably the late 194Rstt Ferguson

. House(SR0267;also known aghe Dr. Renzo

Sutter House) at 339 Country Cludm early
Modernistflat-roofedhouse with International

-.7_{’_

Styleinfluences

The postwar building boom supported a resident architectversant in thi&loderniststyle
Dwight Kenneth Cooke Sr., the son of eathentiethcentury Mount Airy architect Dwight H.
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Cooke (whose only known work is the 1. M. Gordon HousRiiat Mountain)?’ Kenneth

C o 0 k e ékaowih amranission is the Derby Restaurant (SR0941) at 1901 S. Main, a 1947
brick-veneered Moderne building of rounded plan formerly fronted by a little building known as

the Ahato for the bbadcktderbywitdhdangfeemeddi &as
hut and then an ice cream counter before being torn down. A local newspaper article on the eve

of the restaurantos o p éiCookeds pobalayiresmousible forshe i f ut u
Modernestyle of Hutchens Laundry and Cleaners (SR1005) at 209 Spring, a 1939 brick building

given a rounded Moderne corner in a ca. 1946 remodd&lilngo k e 6 s wi f e was Fr an«
Cooke, suggesting a family connection to thsibess

The Derby Restaurabelonged to a new form of commercial development which became
prevalent in Mount Airy after the war: strip development. The first stirrings of strip development
date to before the war, as seen in the various service stations built on Main Street léading in
and out of town. The first of these, such asMh&sioni nf |l uenced ca. 1930 Bl u
Station (SR0783) at 631 S. Main, were often eclectic in character, but after the war they were
typically built in the various modern styles of the era. Otiees of strip development were also
predominatelyModernistafter the war. Examples incluttee Dairy Center (SR1007) at 407 W.
Lebanon, a late 1940s restaurant with an overhanging flat roof, and Blue Ridge Enterprises
(SR1089) at 1120 W. Lebanon, th@60s office building of a contracting firm, which has such
Internationalstyle features as white stucco wall surfaces, large expanses of plate glass, an
exterior stair behind a perforated block screen, and a front porch with slelad&painted
squaremetal postsThe apotheosis of pestar strip development iglayberry Mall (SR0931) at

388 Frederick, aoncatenatiomwf large flatroofedcinderblock buildings the first of which

opened to the public in 1968.

Thefirst half of the twentieth century saw a
proliferation ofsmallscaleindustrial plants. The
introduction of apparel manufacturing in the 1920s,
which focused on the Willow/Oak/Franklin Street
complex of repurposed tobacco factories, inspired
smaller opeations at various locations around town.
Among the first of these were the 1920s Argonne
Hosiery Mill (SR1072right) at 800 Willow, a twe
story brick knitting mill, and the ca. 1929 Bruce
Springthorpe and Sons Mill (SR1071; later known af
the Granite Traer Manufacturing Company) across |
the street at 713 Willow, originally housed in a-one
story brick building with a bow truss roof where
sweaters and swimming suits were made. Although
these two concerns were located on Willow Sireet
they weralistant fromthe main Willow Street industrial complex at the point where the granite
guarry branch line crossed the street. At the south end of towthe/&arber Hosiery Mills
(SR1045) at 1078 S. Main, organized in April 1938 by T. C. Barber and others to mameufactu
i nfant sd an dTherBabhes @l befjan asakwaswoiy Building with a monitor

27 Phillips, Simple Treasures2.
28 Mount Airy TimesNovember 7, 1947
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running the length of its gable roof ridge, although recent renovations have given it-alatketal
front of standard industrigdark appearancé late entryin the small mill sweepstakegasthe
Ashburn Hosiery Mill (SR1059) at 719 S. South,aastere&oncrete block buildingvith one

and twaestory wings that dates to the late 1940s

Commercial and industrial activity generated a need for lodgings and apartitents

nineteentkcentury hostelries that once thronged the downtown are goh& smaklscale

downtown hotel from the following century survives: the 1931 New Willow Hotel (SR0706) at

304 Franklin. The threstory brickveneered building, designatidbuilt by contractor Matt

Hines features granite window sills and lintel accents, a granite cornice supported by brick

corbels, and granite pilaster stripsh e est abl i shment advertised it
Carolinatdts Newest amidopéned Ehs 19208 ateher Apatthentse | 0 wh e
(SR1037) at 13341 W. Church, a twatory brickveneered building, stands in the midst of a
residential neighborhood, whereas the 1939 Snyder Court Apartments (SR0951) at 1007 S.

Main, also two stories and brisleneered, stands on a busy thoroughfare leading into the

downtown. On West Lebanon Street, the state highway leading into town from the north, several
homeowners built or converted their houses to tourist homes. The best documented of these are

the Maple @ove Tourist Home (SR1009) at 207 W. Lebanon and the Hines Tourist Home

(SR1010) at 219 W. LebanoAbout 1960an apartment complex of Ranch house character was

built at the corner of Rockford arithdley streets (SR105604-510 Rockford Street and 305

311Hadley Stregt Presumably the domestcaled units were meant to appeal to renters during

the heyday of the Ranch house formbés popul ari

By the end of the 1960Modernismwas the favored style f@ wide range of building types in
Mount Airy. A prominent work in the style is Central United Methodist Church (SR1092) at
1909 N. Main, a church with the lofty proportions of a medieval cathedral expressed in a
Modernistarchitectural idiomDesigned bystatesville architect Andrew L. Pendleton and
associate William T. Leonard of Mount Airy, the 1965 church features an impressive septet of
stained glass windows in the apse and is accompaniktbdgrnistadministrative and
educational buildings that with the church form two sides of a raised fotedtso in the
Modernistvein is thel969 Rockford Street Fire Station (SR1040) at 439 Rockfeitth a front
elevation distinguished by a series of boxy volueresated by brick pylons and waderin flat
concrete roofs. After the Martin Memorial Hospitalrned in 1953, the community funded the
construction of an impressive replacement, the M&Thern Hospital of Surry County
(SR1095) at 830 Rockford. The original featory brickveneered building of lean flabofed
Modernistform survives hidden béfd later additions

Mount Airy has a rich assemblage of buildings from every period of its development, including

the antebellum period if one counts early houses that have been incorporated into the town
through annexation. The town is notable for tbaliy of its historic construction, with

exceptional examples of many of the architectural styles that were popular from the late
nineteenth century on. This is partly due to the presence of furniture and building component
manufacturers in the communitygaded by executives with an understanding of and

appreciation for design that translated into the houses they built for themselves. Design was an

i mportant aspect of Mount Airyodos | argest and

22 Mount Airy TimesMay 7, 1931.
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Granite Corporatio, which not only quarried the stone but employed a cadre of artisans to shape

it into a host of architectural forms. The ready availability of granite and skilled workmen to

work made the material a natural choice for builders, which used the matetiahfor

architectural flourishes, and entire building facades. Granite is so common in Mount Airy that it

mi ght even be regarded the cityds signature m

Historic Preservation

The 1980s saw the beginnings of sustained preservation activity inythie di981theN.C.

State Historic Preservation Offi¢gelPO), t he Surry County Historical
four municipal governmentsponsored a comprehensive countywide architectural survey

conducted by researchers Laura Phillips and Mariorableri® The survey laid the foundation

for the listing of the Mount Airy Historic District in the National Register of Historic Places in

1985 and provided content for the publicat®imple Treasures: The Architectural Legacy of

Surry Countywritten by Laira Phillips and published by the Surry County Historical Society in

1987.

Mount Airy currently has seven listings in the National Register of Historic P(adt#sdate of
listing):

Edgar Harvey Hennis House (1986)

Mount Airy Historic District (1985)

Mount Airy Historic District Boundary Increase (2012)
Renfro Mill (2000)

Trinity Episcopal Church (1986)

W. F. Carter House (1985)

William Alfred Moore House (1986)

= =4 =4 -8 _9_9_-2

National Register designati@monfersa number of benefitesmongthem qualifying owners of
designated properties for particifgen in the state and federal rehabilitation tax credit programs.
Theseprograms have assisted the rehabilitation of thousands of historic properties nationwide.
Mount Airy buildings/projects tht have benefitted from the program through 2016 are (with
projectfinalization daté:

91 Baird House, 305 Cherry (2010)

T Cat o 06-2841 N.Mair5(2015)

9 Carter House, 418 S. Main (1983)

91 Dollar Home, 142 Worth (1986)

9 Dr. Edward C. Ashby House, 302 Cherry (2D12
1 T. Benton Ashby House, 500 S. Main (1993)

1 T.Garnet Fawcett House, 607 N. Main (2015)

1 Globe Tobacco Warehouse, 838 S. Main (2008)
1 J. D. Smith Store, 300 N. Main (2012)

i Nocaholina Survey Status Report, o0 r epOficewebsted 14) onl i
124,
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Great American Produce Co. Building, 2289 Market (2014)
R. E. Forrest Poultry & EgGo. #138, 235 Market (2014)
Worth-Hollingsworth House, 325 S. Main (2016)

William A. Estes House, 724 S. Main (1998)

Renfro Mill, 165 Virginia(2004)*

= =4 =4 -8 A

Other forms of preservation activity occur in the towhe
1938 Art DeccEarle Theatr¢ SR0340yight) at 142 N. Main
shut itsdoors in 1985 but in 1990 thenwner Carmike
Cinemas donated the building to the Surry Arts Council,
which renovated the building with funding from the North
Carolina Arts Council and resumed showing movies in
199432 Mount Airy Downtown, Inc. affiliated with the
North Carolina Main Street program, fosters historically
sympathetic revitalization in the downtowvount Airy
entrepreneuGene Rees has spearheaded the rehabilitatiogg
historic industrial buildingsishousing, for exaple the
Renfro Loft project which creatddirty-seven
condominiums in thearly 1890Rkenfro Mill building.3®
Other tobaccof/textile buildings in the Mount Airy Historic &
District Boundary Increase area centered on the intersectifif g
of Oak and Willow streetsave undergone rehabilitation or & &
awaittransformation. . | &

)

BiCompl eted | TA Pr €0l8osgrendshest (Jahoawy 3,t2¢18) préparéd by the Restoration
Branch of the N.C. Historic Preservationf f i c e ; ACompl et ed NT2216Bspregdsheet s by
(January 3, 2018) prepared by the Restoration Branch of the N.C. Historic Preservation Office.

2fEarl e History.o Article at the Surry County Music
33 Mount Airy Downtown website.
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Recommendations

The survey identified individual buildings and areas that appear to be eligible for the National
Register of Historic Places and ar kstrecommend
Accordi ng t o the StudilsOdemtibeb graperties andidistricts that are likely to

be eligible for the National Register, giving the green light to sponsors and staff to proceed with

a formal nomination with reasonable assuranaettie property can be successfully nominated.

Li kewi se, as a r evVvi e screams auhpeopertissihattare dearynot dy Li s
eligible or that are highly unlikely to be eligible for the National Register, saving time and effort

on the part ofthe properties’ sponsors and the State Historic Preservation Office (HPO) staff in
preparing and reviewing unproductive nominations.

The National Register of Historic Places is t
objects, sites, andistricts worthy of preservation for their significance in American history,
architecture, archaeology, and culture. The National Register was established by the National
Historic Preservation Act of 1966. The purpose of the Act is to ensure that agaahpttblic

policy, properties significant in national, state, and local history are considered in the planning of
federal undertakings, and to encourage historic preservation initiatives by state and local
governments and the private sector. The listihg property in the National Register places no
obligation or restriction on a private owner using private resources to maintain or alter the

property.

The National Register and the HPO follow certain guidelines for defining the boundaries of
potential listoric districts such as those proposed for the Study List. The historic resources must
represent a more or less cohesive grouping that is:

1 Historically and/or architecturally significant

1 Mostly dates to the historic period (in 2018 defined aslp&9).

1 Retains a generally high degree of architectural integrity; that is, the resources mostly
retain the character they had during the historic period.

Changes in architectural character and historic development patterns may also contribute to
defining distict boundaries. In Mount Airy, an important factordetermining district
boundariesvas integrity. Historic resources may continue beyond a potential district boundary
but are not included because as a whole they do not estilgh devel of integriyy as resources
within the boundary.

On June 6, 2018, project consultant Dan Pezitip@) contact Claudia Brown, arity of
Mount Airy planner Ben Barcroft drove the project area to identify properties and areas for
recommendati on t o Thelistdelosviprasentitse prBpertied/greas witls
brief discussion of their history, architectural character, significance, and int&ggfiyning
with the individual properties and proceeding to the proposed historic districts

Note about nameshé proposed district names are either historic (Gasoline Town, Taylor Park),
descriptive (Northern Boundary Increase), or in the case of Lebanon Hill use a topographical
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feature rather than a specific street name to refer to a large area with multgikeRégearch in
pursuit of designation might suggest other names.

Note about the proposed Lebanon Hill and Taylor Park disttietse adjacent areas have

different development histories and characters but they could conceivably be treated as a single
larger district, if such an approach were advantageous, and if so might be referred to as the North
Mount Airy Historic District.

J. J. Jones High School, 215 Jones School Rd.

(SR1064)When it opened in 1940, J. J. Jones High

School was the only highIseol serving African

American students in Surry County and all or parts

of surrounding counties such as Stokes and Yadkin

in North Carolina and Patrick in Virginia. The

school was named for J. J. Jones, a leading African

American educator in Mount Airy ithe early

twentieth century, whose son L. H. Jones was the

school 6s fTheasshool was designdad pya |

architect J. M. Franklin of Elkin and built with

WPA monies and funds raised by local citizen grolipg original section of the utilitarianibk
building consists of a tall auditorium block with lower office/library and classroom wings.
Additions include a 1959 gymnasium wing ansll@dernist1967 classroom wing\ detached

1947 gymnasium/auditoriumvas built in part by the students and preservéricklaying

classroom in its basementth red lines painted on the floor to indicate student work areas, a
tool room with tool outlines painted on the wall, and even a pile of leftover practice bricks. In
other classrooms are blackboard frames whidlcrails supported by small brackets and there
are tongueandgroove wainscots in classrooms and the main hallway. The school is potentially
eligible under Criterion A in the ethnic heritage: blackl educatioarea of significance for its
association with the devel opment and Mount Air
educationalsystem and wunder Criterion C in the archite
bestpreserved high school from the historic periode Bchool possesses high integrity.

Derby Restaurant, 1810 S. Main St. (SR0941W.

Pell Sr. and Archie Dobson opened the Derby Cottage
restaurant in 1937 and in 1947 replaced their original

building with this curved brick Moderne restaurant,

locatedon the main road leading into Mount Airy from

the south. Their architect was Dwight Kenneth Cooke

Sr., Mount Airyods only reside
period. The buildingds curvec
curving suspended aluminum awning, and windows are

a mix of glass block and aluminuframed.The

interior retains many of its original wood booths with

high woodpanel wainscots with chrome and black

painted metal trimThe basement was used for square
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